Case No. 85850

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

A CAB SERIES LLC f/k/a A CAB, LLC,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jan 26 2024 10:22 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

MICHAEL MURRAY; and MICHAEL RENO, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Respondents.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable MARIA GALL, District Judge District Court Case No. A-12-669926-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTION

The district court entered a final judgment on remand on November 17, 2022. A Cab Series LLC f/k/a A Cab LLC timely appealed on December 21, 2022.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is not presumptively retained by the Supreme Court or assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17.

The issues presented are answered by existing law. The entire appeal can be resolved by assessing whether plaintiffs prevailed in the action. A Cab submits that they did not, under established Nevada law. Given that, A Cab further submits that plaintiffs' demand for attorney fees can be rejected outright. The Court of Appeals would be an appropriate forum to issue that relief.

If the question of the availability of appellate attorney fees under the Minimum Wage Act needs to be reached, however, the Supreme Court is better positioned to decide the appeal. In that case, the question presented is a matter of first impression in Nevada and requires a survey of federal and state minimum wage laws and their fee-shifting provisions.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the district court err by awarding attorney fees to a putative class of plaintiffs where that class should have been decertified?

2. Alternatively, did the district court err by not proportionally reducing the award of attorney fees given the putative class's limited success?

3. In the second alternative, did the district court err by refusing to reduce the fee award by sanctions for the putative class's excessive litigation in direct violation of a stay order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The attorney fees appeal now before this Court is the tail that wags the dog. Plaintiffs brought the purported class action that preceded it (A Cab, LLC v. Murray, 137 Nev. 805, 501 P.3d 961 (2021) ("Murray I")) under the Minimum Wage Amendment (MWA) a decade ago. Since then, the dispute between appellant A Cab, LLC and its drivers has reached near unanimous settlement in a companion case, Murray v. Dubric, No. 83492, 2022 WL 3335982 (Nev. Aug. 11, 2022) (unpublished disposition) (Dubric). Vis-à-vis that settlement, all but three plaintiffs released the claims for which the district court awarded attorney fees.

What roared in as a class of almost nine hundred slinks out as a handful of plaintiffs whose claims that could be feasibly joined. Pooled together, the claims by the three non-settling plaintiffs in *Murray I* are worth less than \$12,000. Indeed, the claims would hardly be appealworthy but for plaintiffs' counsel's current award of attorney fees (22 App. 5408).

The award is an abuse of discretion. Following the *Dubric* settlement, the class certified in *Murray I* should have been decertified

1

on remand (*Murray II*). Plaintiffs are no longer "prevailing" and are not entitled to attorney fees under the MWA. And even if plaintiffs had prevailed in *Murray II*, the award should have been reduced, either in proportion to plaintiffs' limited successes in *Murray I* or via sanctions for plaintiffs' inappropriate litigation tactics. In either event, the award of appellate fees under the MWA was legal error.

This Court should reverse the erroneous orders outlined above and vacate its attorney fee award.

FACTS

The Original Class Action

Michael Murray and Michael Reno (collectively, "plaintiffs") filed a class action against A Cab Taxi Service LLC and A Cab, LLC (collectively, "A Cab"). (1 App. 2; 1 App. 32; 1 App. 146 ¶ 3.)¹ Plaintiffs alleged that A Cab failed to pay a putative class of taxi cab drivers (the *Murray* class) the minimum wage the MWA requires.² (*Id.* at ¶ 6.) Of

¹ Plaintiffs also sued Creighton J. Nady as A Cab's owner, adding claims against him as an individual. Those claims were severed from those made against A Cab, and not relevant to this appeal. (7 App. 1615.)

²Plaintiffs also sought the penalties owed pursuant to NRS 608.040 for violations of NRS 608.020 and 608.030, which relate to payment of

particular relevance here, plaintiffs also sought an award of attorney fees, interests, and costs. (*Id.* at 152, $153 - 60 \P\P$ 21, 25-45.)

The district court certified the *Murray* class, excluding driver Jasminka Dubric, who had filed a separate class action against A Cab on the same claims in *Dubric v. A Cab, LLC*, Case No. A-15-721063-C.³ (2 App. 424:8–9.)

Ultimately the district court granted summary judgment for plaintiffs in *Murray I.* (7 App. 1606.) Plaintiffs were awarded \$1,033.027.81, plus interest. (*Id.* at 1614–15, 1618–46.) In part those damages included claims on which the statute of limitations would have expired, but for the district court's equitable tolling for supposed failure of notice.⁴

The district court further awarded plaintiffs \$568,071 in attorney fees "pursuant to the mandatory fee-shifting provision of Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution." (11 App. 2536.) It also

wages to employees that are discharged or those that resign or quit. (See id. 153 $\P\P$ 25–26.)

³ The district court made its ruling under the pre-2019 version of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.

⁴The district court initially held that A Cab's publicly posted notice was insufficient to start the statute of limitations.

awarded \$46,528.07 in costs, the entirety of plaintiffs' request. (*Id.* at 2539.)

Plaintiffs then obtained a writ of execution to garnish the "[b]ank [a]ccounts or monies on deposit with Wells Fargo Bank that are owned by judgment debtors A Cab LLC or A Cab Taxi Service LLC." (8 App. 1762.)⁵ A Cab moved to quash the writ, and the other companies in the A Cab Series LLC filed claims for exemption from execution based on their separate corporate forms. (8 App. 1981–9 App. 2016; 7 App. 1750– 8 App. 1751 (noting that the companies "have their own books, records and accountings, and do not share assets" with A Cab, LLC).) The district court denied that motion. (10 App. 2484–88.)

The Murray I Appeal

A Cab appealed the orders (1) granting summary judgment, (2) amending the judgment to add A Cab Series LLC as a defendant; (3) denying A Cab's motion to quash writ of execution; and (4) granting plaintiffs' attorney fees and costs. (11 App. 2550.) The Nevada

⁵A Cab Series LLC had not been initially named, but the district court amended the judgment on plaintiffs' motion, "so that it was also against A Cab Series LLC." (9 App. 2045.)

Supreme Court subsequently took the matter under consideration and issued its opinion in *Murray I*, 137 Nev. at 501 P.3d 961 (2021).

Murray I reversed the district court's tolling decision. *Murray I*, 137 Nev. at 813, 501 P.3d at 971. And in light of that holding, *Murray I* also reversed and remanded the award of damages, attorney fees, and costs, for reassessment. *See Murray I*, 137 Nev. at 812, 813, 820, 501 P.3d at 970, 971, 975-76. This Court further reversed the district court's denial of A Cab's motion to quash, with instructions to hold an evidentiary hearing on the A Cab entities' corporate separateness. *Murray I*, 137 Nev. at 824-25, 501 P.3d at 978-79.

Dubric Reaches a Settlement Despite Plaintiffs' Obstructionism

While the *Murray* parties negotiated remand proceedings in *Murray II*, the parallel *Dubric* class action settled. (14 App. 3469; 12 App. 2794–802; 22 App. 5262.) The *Dubric* settlement provided that any person settling a claim would release any related claim in *Murray II*. (22 App. 5287; 22 App. 5276.)⁶

⁶ The relevant language is discussed in greater detail herein. In sum, under the agreement every settling plaintiff in *Dubric* agreed to release all claims "related to, arising out of, or which could have been asserted,

Watching his putative class slip through his fingers, *Murray* class counsel filed multiple motions on behalf of the *Murray* class to intervene in [*Durbic*] and disrupt the settlement agreement's approval. (*Id.*) The district court rejected these attempts, approving the settlement to bind "all . . . members of the Class," with limited exceptions for *Murray* plaintiffs including Michael Murray, Michael Reno, and Michael Sargeant (the *Murray II* plaintiffs).⁷ (16 App. 3836 *see also* 22 App. 5285.) The *Murray II* plaintiffs, as intervenors, appealed the *Dubric* settlement. (14 App. 3387.)

Plaintiffs Push Murray II to Premature Resolution, A Cab Moves for a Stay

While tapping the brakes in *Dubric*, plaintiffs took to their proceedings in *Murray II* full-throttle. Plaintiffs moved for entry of a modified judgment in *Murray II*, providing the court a proposed order and a "modified judgment list." (*See* 13 App. 3066.) The proposed modification would exclude claims predating October 8, 2010 (when the

inferred, implied, included, or connected in any way with" the claims in *Dubric*.

⁷Richard Clark released his claim in the consent judgment with the USDOL, discussed *infra* at § I.A.1.(d). So, only three plaintiffs retain their claims in *Murray II*.

statute of limitations ran without the advantage of the district court's tolling). (*See id.* at 3066:18–22, 3068:3–6.) Plaintiffs argued that *Murray I* otherwise affirmed the court's decisions in full. (*Id.* at 3066.)

A Cab cautioned the district court that plaintiffs were "rushing [the district court] to enter judgment" on an incomplete record. (15 App. 3522:11–12; 16 App. 3788.) One major outstanding issue was the then-pending appeal of the *Dubric* settlement, which the proposed order and modified judgment list ignored entirely. (*Id*.)

To appropriately slow plaintiffs' roll, A Cab moved to stay the district court's proceedings in *Murray II* until this Court issued its decision in *Dubric*. (14 App. 3385:24–28.) Plaintiffs countered that the *Dubric* judgment and appeal could not modify what plaintiffs claimed was still a final judgment from *Murray I*—notwithstanding the intervening appellate judgment reversing and remanding. (16 App. 3819.) Plaintiffs insisted that the *Dubric* judgment was void "to the extent it purports to modify or release any liability" of A Cab. (*Id.* at 2.)

The district court rejected plaintiffs' arguments and stayed Murray II. (16 App. 3902–16; see also 16 App. 3920:5–8.) Plaintiffs petitioned for writ relief on the district court's stay order. At the same time, they ignored it—filing several motions in *Murray II* in direct violation of it.

This Court Affirms the Dubric Settlement and the Murray II Stay is Lifted

This Court affirmed the settlement in *Dubric*. See Murray v. Dubric, No. 83492, 2022 WL 3335982 (Nev. Aug. 11, 2022) (unpublished disposition). In so doing, this Court rejected plaintiffs' arguments that the district court could not have approved the settlement—either because the district court lacked jurisdiction or because the settlement was unfair to the non-settling plaintiffs. *Dubric*, 2022 WL 3335982, at *2 & n.5. As to the first argument, this Court found that plaintffs waive it won appeal. As to the second, this Court noted that the *Dubric* class reached the settlement "as the result of lengthy negotiations after conducting a significant amount of discovery and with the assistance of both a jointly retained expert and an experienced judicial officer." *Id*.

In light of *Dubric*'s affirmance, the district court lifted the *Murray* stay. (20 App. 4984:18–22.)

The District Court Ignores Dubric in Awarding Attorney Fees

The district court granted plaintiffs' motion for entry of a modified judgment. The court adjusted the class (and recalculated damages) to exclude expired claims. But the court refused to exclude class members who had settled in *Dubric*. (*See* 7 App. 1617; 22 App. 5352.) And the district court refused to exclude class members who had not yet cashed checks that A Cab had written pursuant to a consent judgment with the United States Department of Labor. (21 App. 5207.) The district court also refused to decertify the *Murray II* class. (22 App. 5341:24–28.)⁸

The district court then awarded plaintiffs' requested attorney fees, adjusting the attorney fees down only by the number of hours their counsel claimed to have worked on the tolling issue. The court added appellate fees to the award in the full amount plaintiffs requested. (22 App. 5380, 5382.)

A Cab asked that sanctions issue to offset plaintiffs' sizeable attorney fees award. Plaintiffs' counsel had continuously over-litigated

⁸The district court also acknowledged appellants had "the right to a further hearing upon remand on whether that judgment execution should be quashed" but declined to order such a hearing. (*See id.* at 5344.)

Murray I and *II*, defying a court-ordered stay. (16 App. 3919.) The court was forcing A Cab to foot that bill. (22 App. 5389.) Despite agreeing that plaintiffs "violated that stay order," the district court found it "harmless." (*Id.* at 5390.) It denied sanctions. (*Id.* at 5391.)

Finally, A Cab had been awarded "their costs in connection with the appeal of the final judgment order." (22 App. 5400.) Over appellants' objection, the district court ordered this award to be "offset against the total class judgment of \$685,886.60, with the reduction apportioned pro rata amongst the class members." (*Id.; see* 17 App. 4094–110.)

A Cab appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reject plaintiffs' counsel's demand for a sixfigure attorney fees award on a judgment worth less than \$12,000.

Plaintiffs are not prevailing parties on the class claims they sought to bring. The *Murray* class should have been decertified after *Dubric* resolved the claims of nearly every class member. At that point, changed circumstances made continued class action treatment improper. *Green v. Obledo*, 624 P.2d 256, 269 (Cal. 1981) (discussing federal Rule 23 procedures). The attorney fees award should be vacated accordingly.

Alternatively, the award should be vacated because the district court disregarded this Court's express instruction to hold an evidentiary hearing. Without such a hearing, the district court's ruling and attorney fee award was premature.

Even if some of the fees from the district court proceedings were recoverable, plaintiffs cannot recover for the attorney fees they incurred on appeal. Such fees are not available under the MWA. And if they were, plaintiffs should have sought them from this Court, not the district court. Because it was not asked, this Court declined to do so.

Assuming that attorney fees are recoverable here, the district court's award was still outrageous. It should be reduced in proportion to the limited claims on which plaintiffs had any success. Alternatively, it should be reduced by an award of sanction against plaintiffs for their egregious disregard for the district court's stay order while *Dubric* was pending.

11

ARGUMENT⁹

The MWA's proponents expressly rejected arguments that its feeshifting clause would be used to enrich plaintiffs' attorneys at the expense of employers acting in mistaken good faith. See Min. Ass'y Committee on Commerce and Labor, 29 (Apr. 7, 2021) (testimony of Assemblyman Lynn Hettrick that MWA should "help people who need to make more money and who are honest, hardworking people who need to make more money and who are honest, hardworking people who I have the utmost respect for . . . but we don't need to help the attorneys"); *id.* at 31 (testimony of Chairperson Barbara Buckley that the MWA was not intended to be "prone to attorneys"). Plaintiffs would prove otherwise, and the record is rife with iterative briefing that plaintiffs' counsel undertook despite minimal benefit to the class he purports to represent. (*Compare* 12 App. 2811 *with* 17 App. 4202 and

⁹ **Standard of Review:** Generally, "[a]n award of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing*, 132 Nev. 78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016). But

[&]quot;when an attorney fees matter implicates questions of law"—such as the determination of prevailing-party status—"the proper review is de novo." *145 E. Harmon II Tr. v. Residences at MGM Grand – Tower A Owners' Ass'n*, 136 Nev. 115, 118, 460 P.3d 455, 457 (2020) (cleaned up) (reviewing de novo fee award based on contested prevailing-party status).

16 App. 3934 (raising, for the third time, the same arguments for apportionment of costs approximating \$11.48 against each plaintiff).) While defendants successfully settled *Dubric*'s claims with nearly every member of the *Murray* class (which was brought by different counsel), *Murray* drags on. But *Dubric*'s resolution of nearly every *Murray* class member's claim has laid bare the motivation for *Murray* counsel's continued barratry: to inflate the attorney fee award he insists he is entitled to.

For his prosecution of an action seeking an average of \$1,012.62 in recovery for each class member,¹⁰ plaintiffs' counsel demanded and the district court awarded 534.5 times that average recovery in attorney fees. The MWA does not authorize such an award, and it should be reversed. If the Court disagrees, the award is, at least, unreasonable, in which case this Court should vacate the fee award and remand with instructions that (1) appellate fees are not available and (2) any fee award must be reduced in proportion to plaintiffs' multiple losses in *Murray I.* Finally, even if this Court disagrees on the prior points, the

¹⁰This is the average of the "Total 10/8/2010-12/31/2015 Shortage" listed in column "G" of Exhibit 1 to the order modifying final judgment.

award must be recalculated for offset by sanctions that the district court abused its discretion in denying.

I.

ATTORNEY FEES ARE NOT AVAILABLE HERE

A. <u>Plaintiffs Are Not Prevailing Parties</u>

The MWA mandates an award of reasonable attorney fees to "an employee who prevails in any action to enforce this section." Nev. Const. art. 15, § 16. Plaintiffs represent that they were successful on most of the claims they brought. But plaintiffs did not "prevail" within the meaning of the MWA for all the reasons that follow.

1. The Class Should Have Been Decertified After Dubric, Which Destroyed Numerosity

Certification is appropriate only where "(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable [numerosity]; (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class [commonality]; (3) the claims for defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class [typicality]; and (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class [adequacy]." *Sargeant v. Henderson Taxi*, 133 Nev. 196, 199, 394 P.3d 1215, 1219 (2017) (quoting NRCP 23(a)). "A necessary corollary to certification is the court's duty to monitor the litigation to ensure that the requisites are maintained throughout the case." *In re Pac. Sunwear of Cal., Inc.*, No. 16-10882(LSS), 2016 WL 4250681, at *13 (Bankr. D. Del. Aug. 8, 2016). Courts should decertify whenever the class fails any of these four requirements during the action. *See* 3 *Newberg and Rubenstein on Class Actions* § 7:38 (6th ed.) (collecting cases); *see also In re Pac. Sunwear*, 2016 WL 4250681, at *13.

a. PLAINTIFFS WHO DID NOT OPT-OUT OF THE *DUBRIC* SETTLEMENT CAN NO LONGER BE CERTIFIED AS PART OF THE *MURRAY* CLASS

Dubric reached a signed settlement. The settlement extinguished the right to proceed with duplicative claims. (*See generally* 22 App. 5262.)

The *Dubric* plaintiffs agreed to release A Cab, its officers, directors, and related entities from all "Settled Claims." By the agreements' terms, settled claims include the claims at issue in *Dubric* as well as any that "could have been asserted, inferred, implied, included or connected in any way with, any of the allegations in [*Dubric*]." (*Id.* at 5266, 5267, 5276–77 ¶¶ 2.19, 13.2, 13.3.) This necessarily includes any fees associated with the settling plaintiffs' claims.

Even plaintiffs do not seriously dispute that claims by the same plaintiffs, against the same defendants, for the same minimum wage violations are not factually or legally joined or linked together. *See* Merriam-Webster.com CONNECTED (https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/connected). Without question the *Murray II* claims are at least "connected . . . with" those in *Dubric*.

b. This Court's Subject Matter Jurisdiction in *Dubric* is Irrelevant Because A Cab Can Raise a Separate Enforcement Action in *Murray*

In the trial court, plaintiffs suggested that *Dubric* could not impact their recovery. Plaintiffs argued that this Court lacked "subject matter jurisdiction" over the *Murray I* claims when it affirmed the settlement in *Dubric*. (22 App. 5305–06.) The district court appears to have accepted that argument, refusing to modify the *Murray* class to exclude plaintiffs who released their claims in *Dubric*. (22 App. 5351.) This missed the mark.¹¹

¹¹Plaintiffs also suggest that equity somehow bars appellant's enforcement of the *Dubric* settlement. It cites no authority for the principle. Nor is it clear how equity affects appellant's "legally

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