IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

A CAB SERIES LLC, f/k/a; A CAB, LLC,	No. 85850 Electronically Filed Mar 18 2024 03:02 PM
Appellant,	District Ct. Elizabeth: A. Brown A-12-669926rC of Supreme Cour
US.)
MICHAEL MURRAY; and MICHAEL MURRAY, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,)))
Respondents.)

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

LEON GREENBERG PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Ruthann Devereaux-Gonzalez, Esq.
1811 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 210
Las Vegas, NV 89146
LeonGreenberg@Overtimelaw.com
(702) 383-6085

Attorneys for Respondents

NRAP RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

to exclude the "outside the two-year statute of limitations damages" amount and nothing else. A Cab had no right to argue after remand, or in this appeal, that there should have been a further reduction in the final judgment based upon *Dubric* or anything else. Having no right to such a further modification of the final judgment, A Cab cannot now argue the attorney fee award must be based upon such a barred modification of the final judgment.

C. A Cab's claim *Dubric* settled the final judgment is barred by *res judicata*, waiver, forfeiture, and law of the case.

The *Dubric* judgment was entered after the district court's final judgment in this case but prior to this Court's affirmance of the final judgment in this case. The principals of *res judicata* or waiver or forfeiture bar A Cab from raising the *Dubric* judgment in this appeal since A Cab could have raised it in its prior appeal. That bar is often referred to as the law of the case doctrine but that may be a misnomer. *See*, *Howe v. City of Akron*, 801 F.3d 718, 741-42 (6th Cir. 2015) (bar on considering issue in subsequent appeal that could have been raised in prior appeal is sometimes called law of the case; bar is from *res judicata*, waiver or forfeiture arising from the failure to present the issue in the prior appeal).

1. The *Dubric* judgment was issued months before this Court's affirmance of the final judgment.

The Dubric settlement's significance (if any) as a matter of law arose on

August 31, 2021, when the *Dubric* final judgment was entered ordering that settlement on behalf of its proposed class pursuant to NRCP Rule 23. That was four months before this Court's affirmance of the final judgment in this case on December 30, 2021. A Cab ignores this chronology and discusses this Court's subsequent affirmance of *Dubric*. But whatever force *Dubric* had arose on August 31, 2021, from its final judgment and not from later proceedings in this Court.

2. A Cab could have raised the *Dubric* judgment in its prior appeal but did not.

NRAP Rule 31(e) states "[w]hen pertinent and significant authorities come to a party's attention after the party's brief has been filed, but before a decision" a party may file a notice of supplemental authorities. A Cab needed no leave from this Court under NRAP Rule 31(e) to advise it of the *Dubric* judgment of August 31, 2021, and its belief *Dubric* supported reversal of the final judgment.

If A Cab thought NRAP Rule 31(e) was too narrow for it to properly explain to the Court the significance of the *Dubric* judgment,⁴ it could have filed a motion seeking leave to submit a more expansive brief doing so. Or it could have

⁴ In reply A Cab may argue NRAP Rule 31(e) barred it from introducing the *Dubric* decision because it constituted a "new" issue not raised in its briefs. That is incorrect. A Cab repeatedly asserted in its prior appeal that the district court both lacked jurisdiction to enter a final judgment and did so improperly to subvert the settlement awaiting a final judgment in *Dubric*. *See*, Supreme Court No. 77050, Appellants Opening Brief, p. 7, 21, 51.

moved pursuant to NRAP Rule 3(b), on or after September 8, 2021, when the *Dubric* notice of appeal was filed⁵, to have the Court consolidate that appeal with the not yet decided final judgment appeal in this case. *See*, *O'Guinn v. State*, 59 P.3d 488, 489 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2002) (consolidating appeals of two different cases involving same issue). It did none of those things and had this Court decide A Cab's final judgment appeal without being advised of the *Dubric* judgment.

3. The Court's affirmance of the final judgment is law of the case and cannot be reexamined.

An appellate court's decision becomes law of the case that "....must be followed throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal." *Hsu v. County of Clark*, 173 P.3d 724, 728 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2007) (en banc). That doctrine "...'is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest.' " *Id.* This Court's affirmance put to rest the amount and scope of the final judgment and the law of the case doctrine controls all subsequent proceedings involving the same.

While not a jurisdictional rule, the law of the case doctrine "...serves important policy considerations, including judicial consistency, finality, and

⁵ Docket of Supreme Court No. 83492 confirms the same.

protection of the court's integrity." *Id.* This Court recognizes only three exceptions to its application: (1) when "subsequent proceedings produce new or different evidence"; (2) when there is "an intervening change in controlling law"; or (3) when "the prior decision was clearly erroneous and would result in manifest injustice if enforced." *Id.*, 173 P.3d at 729. None of those exceptions apply. This Court's affirmance of the final judgment was not "clearly erroneous" and did not create any "manifest injustice." Nor was the *Dubric* judgment a subsequent proceeding or change in controlling law. It was issued three months before this Court's *en banc* decision affirming the final judgment. A Cab's claim *Dubric* mandates a different understanding of the final judgment's size for purposes of its attorney fee appeal is barred by the law of the case.

A Cab may argue in reply that the district court, prior to issuing the final judgment in this case in 2018, could not have considered the *Dubric* judgment issued in 2021. It would presumably further argue the law of the case doctrine only concerns this Court's decisions on issues that could have been, or were, first decided by the trial court. But that is incorrect. As this Court observed in *Reconstruct Trust v. Zhang*, 317 P.3d 814, 819 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014) (en banc), it is the "....rule that a question that could have been but was not raised in one appeal cannot be resurrected on a later appeal to the same court in the same case," *citing*

and quoting Wright, Miller & Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure § 4478.6 and United States v. Parker, 101 F.3d 527, 528 (7th Cir.1996) ("A party cannot use the accident of a remand to raise in a second appeal an issue that he could just as well have raised in the first appeal....").

Reconstruct Trust is controlling here. A Cab, having failed to advise this Court about the *Dubric* judgment before this Court affirmed the final judgment in this case, cannot argue in this subsequent appeal the final judgment in this case is impacted by *Dubric*. This Court's affirmance of the final judgment is now law of the case and not subject to re-examination.

D. A Cab's arguments regarding *Dubric* are specious as *Dubric* lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case.

Dubric lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case and its judgment is void in respect to that final judgment. See, Zalyual v. State, 520 P.3d 345, 347 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2022) citing Landreth v. Malik, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2011) (Judgment rendered by district court lacking subject matter jurisdiction is void, citing State Indus. Ins. System v. Sleeper, 679 P.2d 1273, 1274 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1984)).

1. No procedure granted *Dubric* subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case.

A district court's final judgment cannot be modified or vacated by the district court "...except in conformity with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure." *Greene v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 900 P.2d 184, 186 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1999). "[O]nce a final judgment is entered, the district court lacks jurisdiction to reopen it, absent a proper and timely motion under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure." *SFPP L.P. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 173 P.3d 715, 717 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2007).

Neither A Cab, nor the *Dubric* judgment, AA 3831-3840, explain, by reference to the NRCP or anything else, the basis for *Dubric's* subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case. The *Dubric* judgment does not mention the final judgment in this case, or assert it had subject matter jurisdiction over that final judgment, or state anything about releasing that final judgment. *Id.*

2. The district judge in *Dubric* could not release a judgment entered by another district court judge in a different case; an injunction in this case also prohibited A Cab from seeking such a release except by a further order in this case.

The *Dubric* judgment and settlement agreement do not mention the judgment in this case or a release of any judgment. A Cab argues the "settled claims" release language in the *Dubric* settlement necessarily released (vacated)

the judgment in this case for all but three of 661 class members. AOB 15. But A Cab cannot achieve through a settlement agreement's language relief that the *Dubric* district judge lacked the subject matter jurisdiction to grant.

A Nevada district court judge cannot vacate or modify an order or judgment issued by different district judge in another case or even in the same case when the prior order constituted a final appealable judgment. Rohlfing v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 803 P.2d 659 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1990) is completely dispositive. In Rohlfing Judge Guinan declared a mistrial. 803 P.2d at 660. The criminal defendant's later motion to dismiss was properly assigned to, and granted by, Judge McGee of the same district court. 803 P.2d at 660-61. The state did not appeal. *Id.* Judge Guinan then issued an order declaring Judge McGee's order void and purporting to deny the motion to dismiss. *Id.* In doing so Judge Guinan exceeded the jurisdiction granted to district judges under Nevada's Constitution and by statute; the state's remedy was to appeal Judge McGee's order. 803 P.2d at 662-63. See, also, Lemkuil v. Lemkuil, 551 P.2d 427, 429 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1976) (district court judge correctly found they lacked subject matter jurisdiction over suit for arrearages under separation agreement; it was within the exclusive jurisdiction of earlier filed divorce lawsuit; "[i]n Nevada, once a court of competent jurisdiction assumes jurisdiction over a particular subject matter, no other court of coordinate

jurisdiction may interfere.")

Dubric, and all other district court judges except the one assigned this case, lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enter any order impairing A Cab's liability under the judgment entered in his case. In addition, the final judgment in this case included an injunction prohibiting A Cab from securing any satisfaction (release) of the amounts awarded to the class members in this case except pursuant to an "Order of this Court in this case." That injunction was properly within the power of the district judge in this case? and, as in Rohlfing and Lemkuil, could be appealed to this Court but not vacated by a different district court judge in a different case. And unless reversed by this Court, that injunction limited the subject matter jurisdiction of the Dubric district judge. A Cab did not challenge

⁶ "Defendants, their agents, and their attorneys, are prohibited from communicating with the class member judgment creditors about their judgments granted by this Order or securing any release or satisfaction of those judgments without first securing a further Order of this Court in this case." AA 7, 1615-1616.

⁷ It was consistent with NRCP Rule 23(b)(2) ((now (c)(2)), NRCP Rule 23(e) and NRCP Rule 23(f), authorizing the district court to grant class wide equitable relief and issue orders controlling the conduct of a class action case and the settlement of class action claims. It was also specifically contemplated by NRS 33.010(3), stating the district court has the power to issue an injunction when "....the defendant is doing or threatens, or is about to do, or is procuring or suffering to be done, some act in violation of the plaintiff's rights respecting the subject of the action, and tending to render the judgment ineffectual."

that injunction in its appeal of the final judgment and it remains in place.

3. The *Dubric* judgment was issued while A Cab's final judgment appeal was pending and while *Dubric* and the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over that final judgment

A Cab's appeal of the final judgment in this case divested the district court, whether in *Dubric* or in this case, of subject matter jurisdiction over that judgment until remittitur issued. See, Mack-Manley v. Manley, 138 P.3d 525, 529-30 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2006). A Cab could have filed an NRCP Rule 62.1 motion asking the district court to re-acquire subject matter jurisdiction to modify the final judgment via a Huneycutt v. Huneycutt, 575 P.2d 585 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1978), remand. It did not because *Dubric* could not hear that motion and the district court in this case would have denied it. The *Dubric* final judgment was entered on August 31, 2021, prior to this Court's resolution and remittitur of A Cab's appeal of the final judgment on February 3, 2022. AA 3831-3840, AA 4594. The Dubric final judgment was void ab initio in respect to the final judgment in this case since on its date of issuance *Dubric*, and the district court, lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case. See, Dekker/Perich/Sabatini Ltd. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 495 P.3d 519, 524 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2021) ("An order is void ab initio if entered by a court in the absence of jurisdiction of the subject matter..."

citing and quoting Singh v. Mooney, 541 S.E.2d 549, 551 (Va. Sup. Ct. 2001).

4. A Cab has no enforceable interest in the *Dubric* settlement that can release any aspect of the final judgment in this case.

A Cab speciously argues its right to enforce its settlement agreement with

Jasminka Dubric includes a right to almost entirely vacate the final judgment —

even though she neither a holder of that final judgment nor empowered to settle it.

A Cab's right to enforce that settlement only extends to (1) The claims of

Jasminka Dubric, the only plaintiff in *Dubric*; and (2) The claims of such other

persons the district court in *Dubric* had subject matter jurisdiction over and

granted Jasminka Dubric, as a class action representative, the power to settle. The

district court in *Dubric* lacked subject matter jurisdiction to grant Jasminka Dubric

the power to settle the claims incorporated into the final judgment in this case. As

a result, none of those claims were, or could have been, settled by her.

A Cab's argument its *Dubric* settlement agreement rights displace the final judgment in this case misrepresents *Step Plan Services, Inc. v. Koresko*, 12 A.3d 401, 417 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2010). *Step Plan* concerned whether an insurer (Travelers) could enforce a settlement agreement it made with a tort plaintiff on behalf of its insured. 12 A.3d 407-08. As *Step Plan* observed, jurisdiction existed over the parties to that agreement, Travelers and the tort plaintiff. 12 A.3d

420-21. Travelers, as the insurer, had the power to enter into that agreement even if its insured objected. *Id*. That subject matter jurisdiction over the underlying tort dispute might be lacking did not bar the court from enforcing a settlement agreement made by parties with the power to settle that dispute and over whom the court had jurisdiction. *Id*.

Neither *Step Plan*, nor any other authority, would grant A Cab the right to enforce a settlement agreement with Jasminka Dubric to release claims Jasminka Dubric had no power to settle on her own and that the district court in *Dubric* never gave her (nor could give her) the power to settle. A Cab can only enforce the *Dubric* settlement agreement for claims Jasminka Dubric was able to release under that agreement, which as a matter of law did not include, and could not have included, the final judgment in this case.

5. This Court in *Dubric* declined to address whether the *Dubric* district court had subject matter jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction cannot be established by waiver.

Contrary to A Cab's insinuations, this Court, when it affirmed the *Dubric* judgment, did not address whether the *Dubric* district court had subject matter jurisdiction over the final judgment in this case. It expressly stated it was declining to consider that issue. 2022 WL 3335982, p. 2., fn 5 ("We decline to

consider appellants' argument that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction..."). Since this Court did not rule on the issue, and the Taxi Drivers could not have waived it, *Dubric's* lack of subject matter jurisdiction to settle the judgment in this case remains dispositive of A Cab's arguments. *Holdaway-Foster v. Brunell*, 330 P.3d 471, 483 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014) (en banc) ("subject matter jurisdiction is not waivable" and "can be raised at any time").

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